1992

Lynette Manske Torres v. John Martin Torres : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Appellant appeals from a Supplemental Decree of Divorce entered in the Third Judicial District Court, In and For Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on January 21, 1992. A Decree of Divorce was entered in this matter by the Court on February 4, 1991 and all other matters were reserved for trial.

RELEVANT FACTS

1. A Decree of Divorce was entered in this matter on January 30, 1991, through a bifurcated proceeding reserving all remaining issues to be tried by the Court.

2. The Supplemental Decree of Divorce was entered on January 21, 1992 (attached as Exhibit "A") and provided in pertinent part as follows:

- (1) At paragraph two, the Defendant was awarded an equity lien against the Plaintiff's residence in the amount of \$4,000;
- (2) At paragraph four, the Decree directed that the Plaintiff shall be awarded two rings purchased by the Defendant from Morgan Jewelers and given to the Plaintiff as gifts on or about September 26, 1987. However, Plaintiff was ordered to reimburse the Defendant for any payments he made to Morgan

Jewelers for the rings since the parties' separation in mid-January, 1989. The Defendant was allowed to hold a possessory lien on the rings until the payments required by Plaintiff are fully satisfied and, further, directed the Defendant to restore the original stones to the rings and obtain certification from Morgan Jewelers that the rings are the same as they were when originally delivered to him in September, 1987.

- (3) At paragraph six, the Court ordered that each of the parties would pay one-half of the total medical bills incurred for surgery and treatment to the Plaintiff on or about August 15, 1990 for a deviated septum and ventral hernia, even though the Defendant had terminated the medical insurance for the Plaintiff which would have paid for said surgery, and the termination of the insurance occurred on the date of surgery, August 15, 1990.
- (4) At paragraph seven, the Court ordered that each of the parties would pay their own

labor was hired, and the Plaintiff and her two daughters were involved in the work. A reasonable value for all of the home improvements, at the time of completion, was \$12,000. Even though the home had depreciated over the past several years, the improvements have added value to the property. It is reasonable for the Defendant to be awarded \$4,000 as the reasonable value of his contributions to the improvements.

- (5) The Court found that the Defendant purchased two ladies' rings from Morgan Jewelers, one costing \$1,575 and the other costing \$2,538. The total charges incurred by the Defendant on his account at Morgan Jewelers was \$4,327.03. Shortly before Christmas 1987, Defendant gave the rings to the Plaintiff as gifts. When the parties separated, the Defendant was still paying on the rings. The Court awarded the rings to the Plaintiff but allowed the Defendant to continue to hold a possessory lien on the rings until she paid the Defendant for all payments made since January, 1989,

when the parties separated. The Court further found that the Defendant had removed the original stones from the rings and found that the original stones should be restored to the rings and certified by Morgan Jewelers that they were in the same condition as when originally purchased.

- (6) Defendant caused Plaintiff's insurance coverage to be terminated effective August, 1990, several months before the divorce was granted in this matter. There were no controlling Orders concerning health care coverage. The Court found at pre-trial on February 1, 1990, that the Plaintiff testified that the Defendant had mentioned to her that he had taken her off the insurance coverage, and that the Court had admonished Defendant to reinstate the coverage. The Court found no record other than the testimony of the Plaintiff, and found that no Order had been entered by the Court on the issue of insurance.

attorney's fees and costs they incurred in these proceedings.

3. In support of the foregoing Order, the Court entered Findings of Facts (attached as Exhibit "B") as follows:

- (1) Plaintiff was living in her own home with her daughters from a previous marriage when a relationship commenced with the Defendant. She was a self-employed cosmetologist.
- (2) The parties did not file a joint tax return for the year 1986, the year of the marriage. Plaintiff sustained an operating loss of approximately \$3,800 in her business for that year. Defendant started employment for C. R. England and Sons sometime around that time, but apparently did not have sufficient earnings to justify the filing of a joint tax return and the use of the net operating loss for tax purposes.
- (3) In 1987, Defendant brought in earnings of \$26,500, while Plaintiff reported \$787 income from her business. Defendant earned approximately \$24,000 in 1988 while the Plaintiff earned approximately \$4,200 from her

business. Joint returns were not filed in 1989 and Plaintiff had a net income from her business for that year of approximately \$8,800.

- (4) Plaintiff purchased her home...in 1982 for approximately \$52,000. The Defendant claims an interest in that home. As of May 13, 1991, the value of the home was appraised at \$37,000, even though the home has a current mortgage of approximately \$47,000. During the marriage, the home was re-painted, re-carpeted, the fireplace was removed and refinished, the basement was finished, including finishing of a bathroom, cedar was installed in the closet, a banister was installed down the stairway, the backyard was completed, and a cement patio was installed. Also, ceramic tile was installed in the entry way and kitchen. There were materials and outside labor costs of approximately \$6,000, most of which came from joint marital funds. The greater part of the labor was performed by the Defendant, and a small portion of the

- (7) The Court further found that on August 15, 1990, surgical correction of a deviated septum and a ventral hernia took place for the Plaintiff, and the Utah Public Employee's Health Program declined payment for lack of coverage, because the Defendant had terminated health care coverage on the date of the surgery, August 15, 1990. The termination of the coverage was retroactive to August 1, 1990. The total medical bills for the surgery were in the amount of \$4,690, and Plaintiff asked recovery of this amount (less deductible) against the Defendant. The Court found that since there was no Order regarding health insurance coverage, it is reasonable that the obligations be treated as any other marital obligation and each pay one-half of the liability.
- (8) Each party was seeking attorney's fees, but the Court found that neither demonstrated a need for an award of fees. Further, each of the parties, in concert with their attorneys, contributed to the inability to settle.

Plaintiff, because of the nature of the disputed assets, wanted everything and the Defendant felt justified in wanting something. When the dropping of the health and medical coverage on Plaintiff occurred, that ended any possibility of settlement. Each party paid a high price in these proceedings, and on balance, each party should bear their own attorney's fees and costs.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court is required to enter equitable orders relating to the marital estate. The marital residence was pre-marital property which the Plaintiff purchased with her own funds and which had a negative value at the time of the Decree of Divorce; it was an abuse of discretion to award the Defendant an equitable lien in the marital residence.

2. The Court failed to follow settled legal principals regarding gifts to spouses as being separate property when it awarded the Plaintiff two rings which were gifted to her by the Defendant in September, 1987, but required the Plaintiff to reimburse Defendant for all payments made on the rings after the parties separated in January, 1989.

3. The Court abused its discretion in requiring the Plaintiff to pay one-half of the medical expenses incurred for her operation on August 15, 1990 where the Defendant, who had historically maintained and paid the medical insurance for the parties, but canceled the insurance policy on the same day as the operation without prior notice to the Plaintiff.

4. The Court abused its discretion in failing to award the Plaintiff at least one-half of her attorney's fees where the Defendant's outrageous actions precipitated the necessity of trial on the issues.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court Abused Its Discretion in Awarding Defendant an Equitable Lien in the Plaintiff's Residence Where the Residence Had a Negative Value and was a Pre-marital Asset. The Court awarded the Defendant a \$4,000.00 equitable lien in Plaintiff's home (Supplemental Decree, para. 2). The Plaintiff purchased the home in 1982 for \$52,000.00; as of May 13, 1991, it had an appraisal value of \$37,000.00. As of the date of trial, the then current mortgage was \$47,000.00 (Findings of Fact, para. 7). The Defendant paid no rent or mortgage payments, but the trial court based its award on work which had been performed by the Defendant to improve the value of the home. All materials used in the maintenance were paid from joint marital funds. There is no

dispute that as of the date of trial, the residence had a negative value.

The Court awarded the Defendant an equitable interest in property which had no equity, and in effect, further increased the debt on Plaintiff's home by \$4,000.00. Where interpreting the equitable division statutes governing Divorce Decrees (§ 30-3-5(1), Utah Code Annotated), Utah courts consistently recognize that trial courts are conferred with broad discretion in dividing property between the parties to a divorce purely based upon equitable circumstances. Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133, 134-135 (Utah 1987). However, trial courts are required to make the ultimate division equitable. Equitable distribution of personal and real property requires that the property be fairly divided between the parties, given their contributions during the marriage and their circumstances at the time of divorce. Neumeyer v. Neumeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1278 (Utah 1987).

It is patently inequitable to award the Defendant an equity interest in property with a negative value. In Jackson v. Jackson, 617 P.2d 338 (Utah 1980), the parties had a short term marriage during which time they incurred \$60,000.00 in debt, which significantly exceeded all assets. The parties acquired a residence with a loan from the Plaintiff's father; the residence at the time of the divorce had \$6,000.00 equity. The residence, along

with all other assets, were awarded to the Defendant and the Defendant was required to pay all liabilities. The Plaintiff appealed from the Divorce Decree requesting the Court to award her the \$6,000.00 in equity in the home, as well as other property, free of liens and encumbrances. Upholding the trial court, the Court held that where the Defendant was required to pay all indebtedness on the property, which dramatically exceeded its value, it was fair and equitable that he should also receive the majority of the property. Contrary to the equitable principles applied in the Jackson case, the trial court is awarding Mr. Torres a lien in pre-marital property which has a negative value, where the debt is being totally paid by Mrs. Torres. Additionally, the trial court failed to take into account that Mr. Torres made no direct monetary contributions toward the home. Rather than awarding Mr. Torres a \$4,000.00 equitable lien, as though the property increased in value, it would be more equitable to require Mr. Torres to pay Mr. Torres for the decline in value which occurred while the parties lived together. In essence, he lived in the home for free, paying no rent or mortgage payments; and is now being compensated for his only contribution. The net effect is the Plaintiff pays for Defendant's housing expenses.

B. Requiring the Plaintiff to Pay for Two Rings Which Were Gifts to Her From Her Husband is Inequitable. The Court found

that the Defendant purchased two rings from Morgan Jewelers on September 26, 1987 for a total cost of \$4,327.03 (Findings of Fact, para. 10). The Court further found that the Defendant made completed gifts to the Plaintiff shortly before Christmas 1987. When the parties separated in mid-January, 1989, the Defendant was still paying on the rings. The Court awarded the rings to the Plaintiff but required her to reimburse the Defendant for all payments made on the rings since January, 1989 (Supplemental Decree, para. 4).

The general legal principals relating to gifts received during marriage is outlined in Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 308 (Utah 1988). In making an equitable division, trial courts should generally award property acquired by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage to that spouse, together with any appreciating or enhancement of its values unless "1) the other spouse has contributed to the enhancement, maintenance or protection of that property, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it, or (2) the property has been consumed or its identity lost through commingling of exchanges or where the acquiring spouse had made a gift of an interest in the property to the other spouse."

The case before the Court does not fall with any of the exceptions outlined in Mortensen. Mr. Torres made a completed gift

to Mrs. Torres with the intent that she become the owner of the rings and not that she be required to pay for the rings. Once the gift is completed, the obligation to pay for the gifts should remain with Mr. Torres. By requiring Mrs. Torres to essentially payoff the balance owing on the rings since January, 1989, the Court is taking the gift to Mrs. Torres and requiring her to pay for it. This is true even though Mr. Torres took the rings at separation, has kept them in his possession since then and has changed the stones to prevent Mrs. Torres from receiving the full value of the gift.

Additionally, the Court's ruling is inconsistent with the legal principal that "the marital estate should be valued as of the time of the Divorce Decree." Berger v. Berger, 713 P.2d 695, 697 (Utah 1985). The Court related its Order back to the date of separation in January, 1989, rather than valuing the gift without debt as of the date of the Divorce Decree. This method of retroactive valuation of liabilities and assets of the parties is simply not warranted by the circumstances in this case. There is no equitable reason that the trial court should deviate from the general rule.

The Court abused its discretion in requiring the Plaintiff to pay for the rings gifted to her by the Defendant.

C. Requiring the Plaintiff to Pay One-half of the Medical Expenses When the Defendant Terminated the Insurance Policy on the Day of the Operation is Inequitable. The Defendant had maintained medical insurance for the Plaintiff during the marriage. During the course of the litigation, there were no Orders entered regarding maintenance of insurance. However, the Plaintiff testified that the Defendant mentioned that he had taken the Plaintiff off the insurance coverage, and the Court admonished the Defendant to reinstate the coverage (Findings of Fact, 12). In July, 1990, Plaintiff consulted with a physician who obtained pre-approval from the Utah Public Employee's Health Program. In reliance of the historical fact of the Defendant maintaining the Plaintiff on his health policy, the Plaintiff had an operation on August 15, 1990. On the same date, the Defendant terminated his coverage of the Plaintiff, which was retroactive to August 1, 1990. Rather than dealing with the inequity created by the Defendant's actions, the Court treated the medical bills as any other marital debt and required the Plaintiff and Defendant to each pay one-half of the medical bills incurred for the operation. (Supplemental Decree, para. 6).

The gross injustice created by the Court's Order is evident. The Court through the concept of fairness and equity out

the window by its Order. As stated in Turner v. Turner, 649 P.2d 6 (1982):

Although this Court may weigh the evidence and substitute its judgments for that of the trial court in divorce actions, this Court will not do so lightly and merely because its judgment may differ from that of the trial judge. A trial court's apportionment of property will not be disturbed unless it works such a manifest injustice or inequity as to indicate a clear abuse of discretion, id at 8.

Without notice, and with apparent malice, the Defendant's action unquestionably were directed at financially harming the Plaintiff. Mrs. Torres acted innocently and in reliance upon her husband having maintained the health insurance policy. The Court requiring Mrs. Torres to pay one-half of the medical bills, which would have been paid by insurance but for Defendant's maliciousness, is clearly unjust.

D. The Trial Court's Failure to Award Mrs. Torres' Attorney's Fees is Inequitable. The Court found that the Defendant made completed gifts to the Defendant of the two rings shortly before Christmas in 1987 (Findings of Fact, 10). However, the Defendant had taken the rings from the Plaintiff and would not return them. The Court further found that the Defendant terminated Plaintiff's coverage under his health plan on August 15, 1990, the day of the Plaintiff's operation (Findings of Fact, 12). The Court further found that the Defendant terminating the health and medical

coverage on Plaintiff ended any possibility of settlement and "each party has paid a high price." The Court also found that each party, because of the disputed nature of the assets, contributed to the inability to settle the case, and each party had approximately the same monthly income and, therefore, did not demonstrate a need for fees. However, it is apparent from the actions of the Defendant that the ruthless manner in which he has treated the Plaintiff during this litigation has propelled the matter to trial. Equity demands recognition of these factors which have prolonged litigation requiring the Plaintiff to incur significantly greater attorney's fees than otherwise would have been necessary had the Defendant acted reasonably.

Traditionally, Utah courts have required a showing that a party seeking alimony show need and a basis for the reasonableness of the award. Kerr v. Kerr, 610 P.2d 1380, 1384-85 (Utah 1980). A factor which should be considered by the Court, however, when dealing with the basis of awarding attorney's fees, is that party which is responsible for prolonging the litigation. As stated by the Plaintiff, she anticipated paying her attorney's fees and would have settled on almost all issues until the point when Mr. Torres took her off of his insurance and refused to pay for the medical bills. (Transcript pp. 91-92 attached as Exhibit "C"). When the mean-spirited actions of one party to a litigation


promote continued attorney's fees, it is fair and equitable that the parties so behaving be charged with the fees.

CONCLUSION

It is the Plaintiff's position that equity require that the Court's Order granting the Defendant an equitable lien of \$4,000.00 in Plaintiff's home be set aside based upon the abuse of discretion by the trial court. The Court Order requiring the Plaintiff to pay for the rings after separation in January, 1989, which were given to her by the Defendant should be set aside in that the Order fails to follow settled principals of law relating to gifts. The Court's Order requiring the Defendant to pay one-half of her medical expenses is unreasonable and inequitable and should be set aside as an abuse of discretion, requiring the Defendant to pay all of the medical expenses, except the deductible. The Court's failure to award at least one-half of Plaintiff's attorney's fees should be set aside as an abuse of discretion, and the Defendant should be required to pay one-half thereof.