1992

Lynette Manske Torres v. John Martin Torres : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Defendant reported the vast majority of the parties income during the years of the marriage and contributed financially and through his labor and skill to the improvement of

Plaintiff's house. It was equitable that Defendant receive some portion of that increased value and the trial court awarded him a lien in an amount of \$4,000 against Plaintiff's house even though the debt on the house exceeded the market value. These improvements increased the value of Plaintiff's house by \$12,000. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in making this award to Defendant.

2. The trial court awarded Plaintiff the two diamond rings subject to her reimbursing Defendant for his documented payments on those rings from the date of the separation of the parties. Defendant was awarded a possessory lien on those rings for that amount. Defendant documented that he paid the sum of \$4,632.50 on those rings from the time the parties separated. Under existing case law and upon well settled legal principals, it was within the court's discretion to award Defendant for the contributions he made in the enhancement, maintenance and protection of those rings.

3. Defendant had injured Plaintiff's jaw about the time of the parties' separation. Defendant admitted and assumed full liability for the outstanding medical costs of treatment for that injury. Defendant agreed to continue carrying Plaintiff on his health insurance during the pendency of the action for the purpose of continuing treatment for the jaw for a period of eighteen

months, the period of time Plaintiff indicated was required to ensure no further treatment was required. Defendant being advised of no further treatment being performed or required for the jaw and at the end of approximately twenty months terminated the insurance coverage for Plaintiff. Coincidental in time and without notice to or knowledge of Defendant, Plaintiff scheduled unrelated surgeries and incurred additional debts due to the lack of insurance. Since there were no orders on this matter, and the record was silent on the issue of insurance coverage for the Plaintiff, the trial court found that the debts for the surgery were marital debts and allocated them equally as between the parties. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in that finding and allocation.

4. Plaintiff sought an award of attorney fees. Defendant testified that he thought each should pay their own fees. The court found that each party contributed significantly to the inability to settle and that neither party demonstrated a need for an award of attorney fees. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in so finding that each party should be responsible for his or her own fees.

ARGUMENT

I. There was no abuse of discretion in the trial court's award to Defendant of an equitable lien in the Plaintiff's Residence.

The trial court awarded the Defendant a four-thousand dollar equitable lien in Plaintiff's residence. Supplemental decree, ¶2, Record at 175. This award was based upon the trial court's findings that

"[d]uring the marriage, the home was repainted, re-carpeted, the fireplace was removed and refinished, the basement was finished, including finishing of a bathroom, cedar was installed in the closet, a banister was installed down the stairway, the backyard was completed and a cement patio was installed. Also, ceramic tile was installed in the entry and kitchen. Materials and outside labor cost approximately \$6,000, most of which came from marital funds. The greater part of the labor was performed by the Defendant, and a small portion of the labor was hired, and Plaintiff and her two daughters were involved in the work. A reasonable value for all of the home improvements, at the time of completion, was \$12,000.

Supplemental Findings of Fact at ¶7, Record at 143.

All of these improvements had been done in a relatively short period of time as the parties had married on July 19, 1986, and separated about mid-January, 1989. Supplemental Findings of Fact at ¶2, Record at 142. The finances of the parties were such that Defendant supplied the vast majority of money during the marriage. In 1986, Plaintiff sustained an operating loss of \$3,800 and Defendant had some income, but not enough to justify the filing of a joint tax return, having just started employment.

Supplemental Findings of Fact at ¶5, Record at 143. In 1987, Defendant earned \$26,500 with Plaintiff declaring income of \$787, and the year 1988 showed Defendant to have earned \$24,000 and Plaintiff reporting \$4,200. *Id.*

Trial courts may exercise broad discretion in divorce matters and in the adjustments of the financial interests of the parties thereto. *Whitehead v. Whitehead*, ___ P.2d ___, 193 Utah Adv. Rep. 8, 9 (Utah App. 1992), *Crockett v. Crockett*, ___ P.2d ___, 193 Utah Adv. Rep 16, 17 (Utah App. 1992), and §30-3-5 Utah Code Annot. (1953, as amended). This court has indicated that it will "afford the trial court 'considerable latitude in adjusting financial and property interests, and its actions are entitled to a presumption of validity.'" *Watson v. Watson*, ___ P.2d ___, 190 Utah Adv. Rep. 42, 44, (Utah App.1992), citing *Naranjo v. Naranjo*, 751 P.2d 144, 1146 (Utah App. 1988).

This court then, will make changes "in a trial court's property division determination in a divorce action 'only if there was a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in a substantial and prejudicial error, the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings, or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.'" *Id.* Defendant respectfully asserts that none of these contingencies exists and that the distribution of the trial court should was a

proper application of the law supported by the evidence and was not an abuse of discretion.

"[T]he overriding consideration is that the ultimate division be equitable[.]" *Watson*, 190 Utah Adv. Rep. at 45, (citations omitted). Defendant asserts that this division was equitable based upon the record of his financial and personal labor contributions to the marriage and the Plaintiff's home improvements.

The Plaintiff has come before this court asserting that Defendant paid no rent, made none of the mortgage payments, and made no direct monetary contributions toward her home. Plaintiff's brief at 12-14. Yet Plaintiff admits in her brief that all materials were paid for from joint funds. *Ibid*, at 12. She further admitted during trial that Defendant made direct financial contributions to the household and expenses - approximately one-half of his paychecks and that he had, on at least one occasion actually made a mortgage payment. Transcript at 58-60.

As to Plaintiff's claims that Defendant paid her no rent, the transcript reveals that Plaintiff was married prior to the instant marriage and did not expect rent from her prior husband, and that she allowed Defendant to live with her without expectations of rent knowing that Defendant had no funds. Transcript at 96-97. In fact, she denied that Defendant should have paid her

any rent. *Id.*

Defendant testified that he surrendered his paychecks to Plaintiff. Transcript, 155-157, and 198-199. Defendant did this because he did not have a bank account due to his bankruptcy which occurred immediately prior to his moving in with Plaintiff. *Id.* He did receive some of those funds back for pocket money, but he also had no bills or obligations to pay due to the prior bankruptcy. *Id.*

Further Defendant provided the labor and knowledge in completing the extensive remodeling of the house. Transcript at 175-179. The expertise he supplied was learned from experience in building houses in the past. *Id.*

The trial court found the reasonable value for all of the home improvements to have been \$12,000. Supplemental Findings of Fact, ¶7, Record at 143. The trial court further found that even though there has been depreciation of the home over the past several years, the improvements added value to the property. *Id.* (emphasis added).

The incomes of the parties during the period of time they were together was also reviewed by the court. See, Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶¶4-5, Record at 143. The vast majority of declared income came from the Defendant and Plaintiff all but admitted this fact indicating that the tax documents which were

admitted as evidence spoke for themselves and that one might reasonably well inquire as to how Plaintiff could have made the house payments in the range of \$600 per month, yet alone paying for the improvements. Transcript at 141-142, and 198-199.

Defendant has not been able to raise any Utah cases which square directly with the issue of division of the value of improvements to real property in light of decreasing market values and the lack of present equity in the real property. Therefore Defendant is required to argue by analogy and compare the instant case to other cases setting forth general principles of equity.

Watson, and Roberts v. Roberts, ___ P. 2d ___, 188 Utah Adv. Rep. 26 (Utah App. 1992) are recent cases from this court which can instruct and lead us on this issue. *Watson* involved the issues of corporate property and premarital property being awarded under the trial court's equitable powers in a divorce.

Mr. Wilson was an employee of his own solely owned corporation and the corporation held title to a BMW automobile. *Watson* ___ P. 2d at ___, 190 Utah Adv. Rep. at 44-45. This court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in setting aside the corporate entity under the alter ego doctrine and awarding Mrs. Watson that BMW automobile in light of the facts that Mrs. Watson had been the principal operator of that car and that Mr. Watson was awarded the other three automobiles held by

those parties. *Watson* ___ P. 2d at ___, 190 Utah Adv. Rep. at 45. In fact, it would have been inequitable had the trial court done otherwise. *Id.*

In addressing the issue of premarital property in *Watson*, this court, citing *Burke v. Burke*, 733 P. 2d 133, 135 (Utah, 1987), stated

"In appropriate circumstances, one spouse may be awarded property which the other spouse brought in to the marriage. The rationale behind this exception to the general rule is that '[m]arital property' encompasses all of the assets of every nature possessed by the parties, whenever obtained and from whatever source derived, ... and that the trial court may, in the exercise of its broad discretion, divide the property equitably regardless of its source or time of acquisition.

Watson, ___ P. 2d at ___, 190 Utah Adv. Rep. at 45, (citations omitted). This court went on indicating that it has "held that in dividing property between parties in a divorce action, 'the overriding consideration is that the ultimate division be equitable.'" *Id.*, (citations omitted).

The property in question in *Watson* consisted of household goods, tools and an interest in a trailer. *Id.* The trial court took into consideration the award of other premarital property of Mrs. Watson to Mr. Watson in making its distribution, and this court upheld that equitable distribution.

Applying the principles of *Watson* to the instant case indi-

cates that the trial court's distribution was proper and should be upheld. Defendant made extensive personal and cash contributions to the household and to the improvement of the house itself. Transcript at 55, 58-60, 155-157, 175-179, and 198-199, and Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶7, Record at 143-144. The reported monetary contributions were mainly from the Defendant. Transcript 134-136, 141-142, and Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶¶5-6, Record at 143. There were few other assets of the marriage to be distributed and those other assets were awarded to Plaintiff. Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶¶1, and 8-10, Record at 142, and 144-146. Hence it would have been inequitable to grant Defendant nothing from the marriage or from the contributions he made to the house during that marriage.

Roberts involved the assignment of assets and liabilities of the marital estate which resulted in a disparity as between the parties, particularly assignment of debts involving the property in the marital estate. *Roberts*, ___ P. 2d at ___, 188 Utah Adv. Rep. at 29. In holding that the trial court was well within the limits this court indicated that one should take "the value of all the parties' assets and liabilities as a whole...". *Id.*

In the instant case, the trial court had before it the entirety of the parties assets and liabilities. It gave Defendant an equitable lien in an amount of one-third of the value the

court placed on the improvements to the house knowing that Plaintiff had a liability on that house. Supplemental Findings of Fact, ¶7. The parties liabilities were divided equitably, as they were in *Roberts*.

Davis v. Davis, 655 P. 2d 672 (Utah, 1982) and *Stephens v. Stephens*, 728 P. 2d 991 (Utah, 1986), are two slightly older cases which approach the issues of the instant case. Both involve improvements to a home and an award of equity in the home for those improvements.

Davis involved a home owned by Mrs. Davis from before the marriage to Mr. Davis. *Davis*, 655 P. 2d at 672. The parties made substantial improvements to the home. *Id.* Also, Mr. Davis held real property in New Mexico, which was purchased before the marriage and three-quarters of the purchase price was paid before the marriage. *Davis*, 655 P. 2d at 673. The trial court found that the home had increased in equity during the marriage, and would probably continue to increase in equity after the divorce. *Id.* The trial court awarded Mr. Davis a portion of the existing and future equities in the home. *Id.* Mrs. Davis was awarded a portion of the value of the land in New Mexico. *Id.*

The Utah Supreme court affirmed the trial court's division of the property. *Id.* It based that affirmation upon the numerous contributions to the respective properties made by the par-

ties. *Id.*

Applying *Davis* to the instant matter, and under the facts of the instant case, it is clear that the Defendant herein contributed to the increased value of Plaintiff's home. As in *Davis*, the Defendant in this case should be awarded something from his investments and the allocation by the court below should be affirmed.

Stephens involved an order requiring that Plaintiff pay one-half of the costs of capital improvements to the home. *Stephens*, 758 P. 2d at 993. The Utah Supreme Court held that the trial court "was well within its discretion to require plaintiff to assume part of the burden of capital improvement expenditures. Defendant, on her limited income, could ill afford to shoulder alone all improvements, and the benefits to plaintiff upon the sale of the home are too obvious to merit further discussion." *Id.* Just as in *Stephens*, Plaintiff herein, on her limited income could ill afford to shoulder alone all of the improvements and would reap the benefits of those improvements.

Plaintiff has cited and analyzed *Jackson v. Jackson*, 617 P. 2d 338, (Utah, 1980), in support of her proposition that the trial court had acted contrary to equitable principals in awarding Defendant the lien on the home. Plaintiff's brief at 13-14. *Jackson* involved an appeal from the distribution of assets and

liabilities to one party. The other party sought an award of the entire equity in the home and certain other property free and clear of liens and encumbrances. The Court, in upholding the trial court's distribution, indicated that where a party is required to pay all debts on property, with the debts exceeding the value, it is fair that said party should also receive the majority of the property.

Jackson indicates that the majority of the property should go with the liabilities. It does not indicate that all of the property must go with the debts, nor does it prohibit a different allocation.

In the instant case, Defendant made substantial contributions toward the improvements of the home of the Plaintiff. He cannot take those improvements out of the home without further impairing the value of the home or of the improvements themselves. The trial court awarded Defendant only a portion of the value of the improvements, nothing more.

Defendant made contributions which increased the value of the home. Supplemental Findings of Fact, ¶7, Record at 144. Had those improvements not been made, the disparity between the mortgage and market price would have been worse, and Plaintiff will be the one who is the recipient of value of the improvements in any event. The lien granted by the trial court was well

within its bounds of discretion and this court should affirm the trial court's findings on this issue.

II. The trial court's award of the rings to Plaintiff subject to a possessory lien in favor of Defendant and against Plaintiff for the amounts Defendant paid for those rings since the parties' separation is appropriate and equitable under controlling law.

On or about September 26, 1987, Defendant purchased two ladies' rings from Morgan Jewelers and incurred charges on his own account in the total amount of \$4,327.03. Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶10. There was dispute at trial as to whether this purchase was for investment purposes, as claimed by Defendant, or as a gift as claimed by Plaintiff. The trial court found that shortly before Christmas, 1987, Defendant gifted those two rings to Plaintiff. *Id.* When the parties separated in mid-January, 1989, Defendant was still paying on those rings, as he continued to do through the date of trial of this matter. Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶10, and Transcript 173-174. The trial court awarded the rings to Plaintiff "subject to her repaying the Defendant for all documented payments he made on the rings after the separation in Mid-January, 1989." *Id.* Further, the trial court found that "Defendant may continue to hold a possessory lien on the rings until all amounts provided herein

are fully satisfied." *Id.*

Plaintiff asserts in her brief that the court abused its discretion in requiring Plaintiff to pay for these rings which the court found were gifted to her by Defendant. This assertion is erroneous. The trial court found that Plaintiff should repay Defendant for "all documented payments he made on the rings after the separation in Mid-January, 1989." Supplemental Findings of Fact ¶10. The trial court issued an order based upon this finding. Supplemental Decree of Divorce, ¶4.

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